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   praise for
THE WHITE LADDER

   ‘A beautifully written and sure-footed history of mountaineering “before Everest”, full of wonderful stories and spanning continents and centuries. A splendid debut.’

   Sir Ranulph Fiennes

   ‘Wonderful… a massive story with an enormous cast of characters, among them some of the most compelling figures of mountaineering history.’ 

   Wade Davis, author of Into the Silence

   ‘Why did mountaineers of old risk life and limb to break new ground and scale new summits? In his thrilling answer to this question, Daniel Light delivers stories that are poetic, spiritual and astonishing in their courage and drive. True climbers remain an esoteric breed but perhaps now they are finally more understandable.’ 

   Sonia Purnell, author of A Woman of No Importance

   ‘Daniel Light guides the reader through a mountainscape that stretches from the Alps to the Himalaya… with the sure footing of a serious student of climbing history, and the élan of a skilled storyteller. This is a book to curl up with on a cold dark night in a comfortable armchair before a bright fire.’ 

   Maurice Isserman, co-author of Fallen Giants

   ‘Vivid, nicely paced and beautifully written… The White Ladder neatly bridges a lacuna in the history of mountaineering, tracking the trials and achievements of the little-known climbers who preceded and inspired the great Himalayan expeditions of the mid-twentieth century.’

   John Keay, author of Himalaya

   ‘Highly readable, informative and beautifully researched with a lightness of touch entirely in keeping with its subject matter. I recommend it to anyone who dreams of taking a tilt at the world’s highest peaks.’ 

   Julie Summers, author of Fearless on Everest

  

  
    


    [image: ]
   

  

 
  
   For my mother

  

 
  
   Contents

   Author’s Note

   Prologue: Because it is There

   Part 1: All They Surveyed

   1. Under a Foreign Sky

   2. Ahead of the Game

   3. Fresh Blood

   4. The Khan of Khotan

   Part 2: The Alpinists Arrive

   5. The Golden Age

   6. Mountain Sickness

   7. No Higher Purpose

   8. The Climber’s Flower

   9. Friction

   10. Pioneer Pique

   11. World of Giants

   Part 3: Amateur Hour

   12. Lord of the East Face

   13. Nature at Her Wildest

   14. Rough Diamonds

   15. Monarchs of a Void

   16. Baptism of Ice

   17. Because I Must

   18. Five Brothers

   19. Camp America

   Part 4: Approach to Everest

   20. Trident of Shiva

   21. A Sporting Effort

   22. Rarefied Air

   23. Fearlas Mòr

   24. Sleep of the Just

   Epilogue: Go Ask the Past

   Plates Section

   Acknowledgements

   Bibliography

   List of Illustrations

  

 
  
   
    
     [image: ]
    


   

  

 
  
   
    
     [image: ]
    


   

  

 
  
   We attacked the wall immediately after starting, making short and frequent halts for rest and breath, as we trod silently the white ladder of approach to the mysterious unknown.

   Fanny Bullock Workman, 1909

  

 
  
   
Author’s Note

   The notion that early European mountain-explorers were lone, pioneering figures endures even today. In truth, every expedition included those whose names and identities were not a matter of record. Who kept no account of their experiences, or whose stories have been lost. Theirs were the shoulders the Europeans stood on. Theirs were the backs they broke.

   I have tried to do justice to the part played by these local intermediaries. I give their names where I have been able to discover them. I make as full an account of their involvement as sources allow. At the same time, I sometimes employ the same shorthand as the sources themselves. I use ‘Baltis’, ‘Bhotias’ and ‘Lepchas’ to refer to what may have been more intermixed ethnic groups. I use ‘porter’ and ‘guide’ to describe roles that were more complex and multifarious. I refer to groups of ‘men’ that may have included small minorities of women. The word ‘coolie’ – a pejorative term for porters – appears only in direct quotations.

   For the names of the places we travel to and the people we meet, I favour whatever spellings appear most frequently in the sources I use. Some places – ‘Bombay’, for example, ‘Calcutta’ and ‘Rangoon’ – are referred to by their English-language names at the time of the events described. Some names are spelled differently when they appear in extracts or quotations.

   It is impossible to cover such a broad sweep of history without making some mistakes. Mountaineers climb with force of personality and find plenty to disagree about, even from two ends of the same rope. Some dangers might be exaggerated, others underplayed. Some heights have been mismeasured, disputed and revised. Some people tell bare-faced lies. I have recounted the climbs as the climbers told them, leaving the reader to decide what to believe. Where the facts aren’t in dispute, any mistakes in the text are mine alone.

   There will be moments when this book betrays the fact that I am not a serious mountaineer. A keen climber, yes, who knows what it is to move, un-roped, at the edge of my comfort zone. But made from nothing like the same stuff as most of the people you are about to meet.

   I am, I suppose, like the military historian who writes about battle without ever having gone to war. An enthusiast, who loves mountains, and who found, in the writing of this book, a way to always be among them.

  

 
  
   
Prologue

   Because it is There

   Mallory was bored.

   Bored of giving the same old talk, with the same old photographs, on the same old lecture tour. Disheartened by the mixed reception on the other side of the Atlantic, by half-full venues and lacklustre reviews. And, when the lights came up, always the same question.

   Why?

   Might as well ask a dog why it howls at the moon. Mallory was a climber. At seven, he’d been scampering up drainpipes on his father’s church; at twelve, it was the chapel of Winchester College. Mount Everest was a higher calling, of course, but at heart he was still that boy from Birkenhead, climbing ‘like he did not expect to fall’.

   Why?

   Some question for a soldier, a veteran of the Great War. Mallory had served in the Royal Artillery, had made a target of himself scaling trees and church towers, spotting for his battery. He had gone to the trenches on reconnaissance missions, had seen bodies sinking into Picardy clay. Those who had seen so much death knew life was for living. Those who had been to such depths knew mountains were for climbing.

   Why?

   He had a family to think about. He and Ruth had married six days before Britain entered the war; the children barely knew him. Why disappear into the mountains when everything that mattered most was back home? Except Mallory didn’t know how to be a husband or a father, any more than he knew how to be a soldier or a teacher. The only thing that came naturally to him was to climb.

   But why? Why put yourself in such danger?

   Because it was dangerous. Seven men had died on the last Everest expedition, Sherpas killed in an avalanche. For many, they were just porters, indigenous intermediaries pressed into the service of the British. Mallory knew them as skilled guides and mountaineers, men with their own understanding of what it meant to walk in Everest’s shadow. They had names – Dorje, Lhakpa, Norbu, Pasang, Pema, Sange and Temba. They had families.

   Mallory blamed himself. He had led them into trouble. They shouldn’t have been on the mountain so late in the summer. Then a weather window opened, tempting good mountaineers into bad decisions. So much experience among the British. Everest made novices of them all.

   Now there was talk of having another go. Why? Because they almost had it. George Finch and Geoffrey Bruce had gone to within two thousand feet of the summit, until Everest was the only mountain they could see ‘without turning our gaze downwards’. Exhausted, with time against them, a malfunction with their oxygen equipment turned them back. But for one stroke of bad luck, they might have climbed the world’s highest mountain. How could they give up now?

   ‘So,’ said the reporter, a young lady from the New York Times. ‘Why exactly is it that you want to climb?’

   Mallory sighed.

   Go ask the past.

   Go ask the pioneers.

   Go ask the mercenaries and spies, risking their lives, wearing disguises so good they fooled themselves. Ask soldiers and surveyors, labouring through the lowlands, forcing frozen passes, in the stamping ground of somebody else’s gods. Ask the alpinists and cragsmen, showmen and charlatans, peasants and princes, writing their names into record books and sometimes into stone. Ask the amateurs and professionals… ask them all, who first clapped eyes, set hearts, fixed hands on the highest mountains in the world. Go ask the past, demand your truth from visionaries and seers.

   Then listen, as their answers echo back across the years.

  

 
  
   
Part 1

   All They Surveyed

   And, all the time, there it was ahead of them.
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      A traveller following a trail up the Sutlej valley in Himachel Pradesh, India, c. 1865. Photograph by Samuel Bourne.

     



   

  

 
  
   Chapter 1

   
Under a Foreign Sky

  

 
  
   
    
     
     
      [image: ]
     


    
      Then, just as they were beginning to despair, a vision appeared to stir their cavalier spirits…

      Two illustrations of the first attempt on Popocatépetl (top) from the title page to Herrera’s Historia, 1601 and (bottom) from an engraving in Ogilvy’s America, 1671.

     



   

  

 
  
   ‘I hold out to you a glorious prize,’ Don Hernán Cortés told his assembled forces, ‘but it is to be won by incessant toil. Great things are achieved only by great exertions.’ That was the conquistador’s promise, as he and his followers prepared to sail for the place they called ‘Yucatán’. The year was 1519, the ‘glorious prize’ in question – Aztec Mexico.

   Cortés had mustered his army on the shore at Cuba’s Cape Corrientes, a force of around five hundred Spanish soldiers accompanied by several hundred native Cubans. A fleet of eleven ships lay just offshore, loaded with horses, assorted weapons and artillery, and as much cassava bread and salt pork as he had been able to lay in stock. Cortés was not a tall man – by some accounts he stood at just five foot four – but since being appointed captain-general of the armada he had taken to wearing a hat with a large plume of feathers. This was complemented by a black velvet coat with golden knots and a gold medallion, heralding the glittering promise of great riches waiting just across the opal sea.

   Cortés was true to his word. Battered by a violent storm, they made land at Yucatán to be faced by hostile Mayan warriors vastly outnumbering them. Arrows and spears were no match for the ‘fiery lightning’ of Spanish cannon and musket but, for Cortés and his exhausted army, victory brought no respite. Making camp on the burning sands of the tierra caliente, they were tormented by swarms of parasitic insects. The heat was unbearable, but Cortés insisted his soldiers keep their armour on at all times. Even when they slept, it was with weapons at hand.

   Marching east into the snow-clad mountains of the Cordillera, the Spanish were ambushed by their enemies and besieged by cold. This, though, was life in the army of Cortés, a general whose mantra was ‘succeed or perish’. Upon hearing that some of his soldiers were considering retreat, ‘their patience exhausted by a life of fatigue and peril’, the conquistador acted decisively – he sent back orders to sink their own ships.

   Then, just as they were beginning to despair, a vision appeared to stir their cavalier spirits – a thin column of smoke, rising from a mountain’s summit. Drawing closer, they saw the smoke coming from within the mountain. High on Mexico’s Sierra Nevada, it was the 17,694-foot stratovolcano Popocatépetl.

   Many of the Spanish had never seen an active volcano before. Transfixed by ‘the wild terrors which hung over the spot’ and possessed by ‘the wild love of adventure’, a decorated captain named Diego de Ordaz saw an opportunity to further enhance his reputation. He went to Cortés and ‘begged leave… to ascend the mountain’ to ‘inspect this wonder more minutely’.

   Cortés sensed an opportunity of his own. He had been manipulating local factions from the moment they made land at Yucatán, gaining their allegiance then turning them against one another. Now he would show ‘that no achievement was above the dauntless daring of his followers’, for whom ‘the most appalling and mysterious perils were as pastimes’.

   With some of the Tlaxcalans as their guides, Ordaz and a small party of Spaniards started towards the volcano. They passed through dense forest, the pine trees mutilated and misshapen, scarred by debris from past eruptions. Then there were no trees at all, only shrubs and stunted vegetation, as they moved onto the slopes of Popocatépetl, ‘a black surface of glazed volcanic sand and lava… arrested in a thousand fantastic forms’.

   As if awoken by the footsteps troubling its lower reaches, the volcano began to stir. According to the Spanish, the Tlaxcalans believed Popocatépetl to be ‘the abode of the departed spirits of wicked rulers, whose fiery agonies in their prison-house caused the fearful bellowings and convulsions in times of eruption’. Now, hearing these ‘strange subterranean sounds’, the local guides decided they would go no further.

   There is no way of knowing whether, to the minds of the Tlaxcalans, the noise they heard was indeed the anguish of vengeful souls, trapped in a prison of fire. Just as it befitted the Catholic conquistadors to see their indigenous counterparts as fearful and superstitious, with a homeland waiting to be claimed for the Holy Roman Emperor and his one true god, it well suited the Tlaxcalans not to climb an active volcano. Putting such questions – and their guides – behind them, the Spanish went on alone.

   Mist closed in and smoke drifted down to join it. Gone was the sky, the bright sunlight, the sprawling tableland beneath. It grew colder as they passed the snowline, and the rocky mountainside disappeared beneath a thick coating of ice and snow. Wrapped in cloud, they had entered a white world, where ‘a false step might precipitate them into the frozen chasms that yawned around’. Their quilted cotton armour insulated them against the gathering cold; their steel helmets and cuirasses afforded some protection against volcanic debris, or a serious fall. But armour weighed heavily at 17,000 feet and more, where breathing grew difficult, ‘every effort… attended with sharp pains in the head and limbs’.

   Ordaz urged them on. Then, with the lip of the crater visible above, the volcano burst into life. It ‘began to throw out great tongues of flame’, ‘such volumes of smoke, sparks, and cinders belched forth from its burning entrails, and driven down the sides of the mountain, as nearly suffocated and blinded them’. They had reached the last circle of hell, except here the circles rose upwards. ‘Two lances’ distant’ from the summit, they could go no further. At the last, they turned back.

   ‘They went, and strove, and did all that was possible to scale it,’ wrote Cortés in a letter to the Holy Roman Emperor, ‘but never were able to do so.’ He might have given them a little more credit. Ordaz had brought back more than just a tale of high adventure from the near-summit of Popocatépetl. He had looked deep into the homeland of the Aztec ruler, Montezuma. Cortés could now lead his army over the high mountain pass to the north, approaching the city of Tenochtitlan with the element of surprise. ‘They came back very glad at having discovered such a road,’ wrote Cortés, ‘and God knows how happy I was about it.’

   Ordaz had observed something else, high on the slopes of Popocatépetl: the foul smell of sulphur dioxide, emanating from the crater. Sulphur, Ordaz knew, was necessary for the production of gunpowder. And gunpowder was necessary for the waging of war. When their supplies ran short, Cortés would send another of his captains, Francisco de Montaño, to the summit of Popocatépetl. To the conquistador’s delight, Montaño returned with all the sulphur they could possibly need, describing how he had been lowered into the crater to collect it. In a letter to the emperor, Cortés struck a more circumspect note. ‘It would be less inconvenient, on the whole,’ he observed, ‘to import our powder from Spain.’

   The ascent of Popocatépetl is not the first historically documented account of a mountain being climbed. For that, we turn to the Shujing, one of the oldest books in the world, to find the ruler of China, Emperor Shun, atop the highest peak of the eastern Shandong province, the 5,029-foot Mount Tai, in around 2284 BCE. Standing on the first part of the Chinese landmass to feel the light of a new day, Shun made burnt offerings to the Jade Emperor of Heaven, and gave thanks for the gifts of light and life, symbolised by the break of dawn.

   Other high ascents predate the Spanish on Popocatépetl. A Buddhist monk named Matsudai Shonin is known to have ascended Japan’s 12,395-foot Mount Fuji in 1149 CE. Shonin was a follower of Shugendo, a Buddhist sect whose disciples, the Yamabushi, climbed as an act of ritual religious observance, an opportunity to test their faith. At the same time, thousands of miles away, Native Americans are said to have ascended mountains of 12,000 feet and more to commune with their ancestral spirits. For some, the height of the peak climbed was a measure of a young warrior’s spiritual ambition.

   The ascent of Popocatépetl was different. From medieval times, Europeans had contemplated mountains with fear and superstition, their frozen heights the haunts of witches and the lairs of dragons, with the souls of the damned lying incarcerated in the glaciers below. A few outriders of the Enlightenment had ventured into the Alps – most famously, Leonardo da Vinci. Towards the end of the fifteenth century, Da Vinci climbed a mountain called Monboso, a spur of the Monte Rosa, where he drew sketches of the range appearing in the background of the Mona Lisa. Da Vinci, though, was ahead of the curve. In the early sixteenth century most Europeans agreed that Alpine passes were to be hurried over, and the mountains themselves avoided altogether.

   Now, on the other side of the world, Ordaz and Montaño had led attempts on a summit higher than any in Europe, not as an act of religious homage or contrition, but in the name of conquest. Driven by ‘the chimerical spirit of enterprise… which glowed in the breast of the Spanish cavalier’, they evoked something of the spirit of the modern-day mountaineer. Which is why, five hundred years later, in a chronicle of the highest ascents on record, that is where our story begins.

   Baron Alexander von Humboldt was asleep in his hammock when the world began to shake. The day was hot and humid, and thunderclouds had cast the Venezuelan city of Cumaná into darkness, foreshadowing the violent earthquake now rocking the city to its very foundations. Humboldt watched as his friend Aimé Bonpland was thrown to the ground. In the streets nearby he could hear people crying out in terror. Panic was spreading fast.

   Humboldt rose to his feet and began to set up his instruments. He had come to South America to gain a better understanding of the inner workings of the earth. This was too good an opportunity to miss.

   Earthquakes were just one of the dangers Humboldt would encounter during his five-year expedition to South America. Arriving in 1799, he and Bonpland travelled thousands of miles, taking heavily laden mules across the highest and most precipitous passes of the Andes, then venturing deep into the ‘howling wilderness’ of the Amazonian rainforest. There, they conducted dangerous experiments with deadly poisons, and bathed in waters infested with alligators and crocodiles, giant anacondas and electric eels.

   In June 1802 they came within sight of the 20,549-foot Ecuadorean stratovolcano Chimborazo. Humboldt and Bonpland intended to climb it.

   Humboldt was fascinated with volcanoes. He envisaged nature as a single interconnected system, a web of life ‘animated and moved by inward forces’. To Humboldt, volcanoes were openings to the heart of nature, manifesting all its creative – and destructive – force. Now he would take his work onto the slopes of one unmatched in reputation and stature, in search of the ultimate prize – vital evidence for how the earth itself had formed.

   Humboldt knew the stories of the Spanish on Popocatépetl. He doubted whether they had gone into the crater, or to the summit, thinking it more likely they had collected the sulphur, ‘as several persons in Mexico suppose, from a lateral crevice of the volcano’. His ascent of Chimborazo would be different. He would bring a scientific rigour to proceedings, and a scientist’s reputation. He would open the book on the world altitude record – and close it – by climbing what most Europeans then believed to be the highest mountain on earth.

   A painting by Friedrich Weitsch shows Humboldt and Bonpland en route to Chimborazo, camped on the grassland plains leading to its foot. Humboldt stands, inspecting an intricate brass theodolite – a telescope that reports the angle of an object from the horizontal – cradled by one of the local guides. Bonpland sits taking notes in the shade of a tree. Both men wear frock coats, loose-fitting trousers and thin-soled shoes. Nearby, on a wooden box, is a top hat.

   Humboldt was nothing if not ambitious – he meant to climb Chimborazo in a single day. That night, heavy snow fell, but it did nothing to deter him. He and Bonpland were away early the next morning, accompanied by their friend Carlos Montúfar, their Mestizo manservant José de la Cruz, and a party of local porters and guides. They crossed the tableland then started up a series of giant step-like plains, Humboldt and Bonpland riding on mules. Coming to the snowline, Humboldt understood that their guides had little sense of what lay ahead. They had chosen this route up the mountain, but ‘few had ever reached the limit of perpetual snow’.

   Leaving their mules, they climbed through an ‘enchanted forest of stone’, leading to the foot of ‘a narrow ridge of rock… by which alone it was possible for us to advance’. The ridge looked badly weathered, narrowing to just a few inches. The locals knew it as the cuchilla. A word which means ‘knife-edge’.

   Humboldt saw the guides and porters preparing to abandon them. The locals might visit the lower reaches of Chimborazo to hunt game or gather firewood, but they had no reason to climb the cuchilla. When ‘all entreaties and threats were unavailing’, Humboldt understood that he and his three companions were on their own.

   They began to climb. Soon the ridge was all there was, rising out of a sea of mist, disappearing into a canopy of cloud. ‘On the left the precipice was concealed by snow,’ wrote Humboldt, ‘on the right our view sank shuddering 800 or 1,000 feet into an abyss.’ ‘As the rock was very keenly angular, we were painfully hurt, especially in the hands.’ And still they went up.

   Occasionally, where the ridge was wide enough, they stopped to rest. Here Humboldt measured altitude, gravity, temperature and humidity, balancing his instruments on the rocks around him and scribbling notes with frozen and bloody fingers. Little trace of life remained, only stone-lichen and moss. ‘A butterfly (sphinx) was caught by M. Bonpland at the height of 15,000 feet,’ noted Humboldt. ‘We saw a fly 1,600 feet higher.’ From the slopes of other volcanoes, they had looked down onto the backs of soaring condor. On Chimborazo those were nowhere to be seen.

   The longer they climbed, the more they felt the effects of altitude. ‘We began gradually to suffer from great nausea,’ wrote Humboldt. ‘We had haemorrhage from the gums and lips. The conjunctiva of the eyes likewise, was, in all, gorged with blood.’ The men grew giddy as the world swam around them, with no horizon to orient them, no summit to hold their gaze. All they could do was climb, up the crumbling crest of the cuchilla, hoping up was still up, down still down.

   Then, like that, the mist was gone, revealing the dome-shaped summit of Chimborazo. All that stood between the four men and, to the best of their knowledge, the highest position on the surface of the earth, was a distance ‘thrice the height of St Peter’s church in Rome’. ‘It was an earnest, momentous gaze,’ wrote Humboldt, one that ‘animated our powers anew’.

   The men ‘hastened onwards, with certain steps’, believing the summit now within their grasp, only for fate to snatch it from them. ‘All at once a ravine of some 400 feet in depth, and fifty broad, set an insurmountable barrier to our undertaking.’ With no way round the giant crevasse, there was no alternative but to turn back.

   According to Humboldt’s measurements, they had reached a height of 19,286 feet above sea level. Higher than the top of Popocatépetl, higher than the highest summits of the Alps. Higher than any European was known to have gone before. Looking out across the neighbouring mountains, Humboldt might have felt a supreme satisfaction. He did not. Gazing upwards with a sense of ‘mournful solitude’, he could only watch as the mist closed in once again. It was one o’clock in the afternoon. He and his companions turned and began to climb down.

   Arriving back in Europe two years later, Humboldt doubted whether his near ascent of Chimborazo was of ‘serious scientific interest’. In a place where flora and fauna were largely absent, and the finest instruments prone to error, ‘the efforts of travelling natural philosophers’ were, in his view, ‘scarcely rewarded’. ‘There is, on the other hand, an active popular participation in such endeavours,’ offered Humboldt. ‘That which seems unobtainable has a mysterious attractive power.’

   Humboldt embarked on a European lecture tour, recounting all he had learned on his ‘great voyage’, to find that his tale of Chimborazo was the real draw. Crowds of people turned out to see the man who had climbed, in his own words, to ‘a place higher than all others that men had reached on the backs of mountains’. The story of the world altitude record was just beginning, and already it was a box office hit.

   For years, rumours had been circulating among the British, swirling around the East India Company offices in Calcutta, fogging the corridors of the Royal Geographical Society. Talk of mountains so big it made you breathless just to look at them. This had been met for the most part with scepticism and disbelief, but in the early nineteenth century men like James and Alexander Gerard saw for themselves that the rumours were true.

   The Gerards were soldiers in the Bengal Infantry, the private army of the East India Company. Formed to trade on behalf of the British in the Indian Ocean, the Company controlled a force of more than 200,000 men, their mission to defend British interests against colonial rivals like the French, and regional powers like the Gurkhas and Murathas. The Company’s armies had fought a series of wars around the turn of the century and, by 1818, large swathes of the subcontinent were under British control.

   With the advent of peacetime, the British found good use for officers like the Gerards, men who enjoyed the benefit of a ‘liberal education’. They were sent to conduct ‘route surveys’, following the course of a road or a river through newly acquired territory. They collected information about the character and constituents of an area, about infrastructure and agriculture, about trade and commerce. They might make a few notes on how best to defend a position against musketry, but for the most part their soldiering days were over. If either was to kill anybody now it would be the result of bad luck rather than good judgement.

   In September 1818, the brothers embarked on their most ambitious expedition yet, along the mountainous northern frontier of British-administered India. They marched up the valley of the Sutlej river into the mountains of Himachal Pradesh, at the head of almost one hundred indigenous porters and guides. There they found a world ‘more of magnificence than of beauty’, where pine trees clung to the mountainside, roots grasping at the slenderest of cracks. Alexander thought the landscape ‘on the grandest scale, fragments of fallen rocks of immense bulk, hurled from the peaks above, and vast impending cliffs fringed with dark forests, and topped with mountains of indestructible snow’.

   And, all the time, there it was ahead of them. A 22,362-foot pyramidal peak rising out of the surrounding massif, a giant triangular notch in the skyline.

   Reo Purgyil. Abode of the Demon.

   The Gerards marched for two weeks, bringing them to the village of Shipki, at the limit of British-administered India. To the east was a high mountain pass, the Shipki La; for the British, it was a gateway to all the secrets of Chinese Tartary. To the north stood Reo Purgyil, now just a few miles away. To climb it would be to gain the ultimate vantage point, a chance to look deep into territory they were forbidden from entering. But the brothers had ambitions of their own. They were well aware of Humboldt’s record, and they meant to break it.

   After a long march through a tangled mass of vicious thorns, the brothers and their guides moved onto ‘enormous blocks of stone’ that teetered beneath them as they hopped from one to the next. Then, as the ground grew steeper, they ‘were obliged to use both hands and feet, now climbing up almost perpendicular rocks and now leaping from one to the other’. Knowing ‘a single false step might have been attended with fatal consequences’, they crossed ‘deep chasms, which we could scarcely view without shuddering’. ‘I never saw such a horrid-looking place,’ wrote Alexander. ‘It seemed the wreck of some towering peak, burst asunder by severe frost.’

   The Gerards had set their minds on reaching a ‘near’ pinnacle, ‘but were never so much deceived in distance. It took us full three hours to reach its top, and the ascent was very tiresome.’ Meanwhile, as they gained height, they met the enemy within. Pain rose behind their eyes and in their ears, and their chests tightened like drums. As a doctor, James was well equipped to ward off many hazards of Himalayan travel, but where his knowledge fell short – where all knowledge fell short – was the operation of altitude on the human frame. Constant headaches, breathing difficulties, loss of appetite, exhaustion and insomnia, these were just some of the symptoms of hypoxia, a shortage of oxygen in the blood. The Gerards knew it as ‘mountain sickness’ and it left them, in Alexander’s words, ‘completely debilitated’.

   And yet they soldiered on, as soldiers do. When they finally called a halt, it was deep into the afternoon, with the temperature falling fast and darkness close behind. Stopping on a saddle slung between two peaks, they fumbled with their equipment, anxious to know how high they had climbed. Their three homemade barometers all agreed: they were 18,683 feet above sea level. Just a few hundred feet short of the height Humboldt claimed to have reached on Chimborazo. It was too late, though, to go on.

   Retreating only some of the way down the mountain, the Gerards took shelter in a hollow among the rocks, hopeful that the warmth of a blanket and a campfire would stave off hypothermia. Their spirits were warmed, too, by ‘a large quantity of punch, which we continued drinking till near two in the morning. I do not recollect anything,’ wrote Alexander, ‘that ever refreshed me so much.’

   Conditions deteriorated overnight. Starting out at sunrise, they met a bitter wind that strengthened as they climbed. The porters stopped more often to rest, the Gerards ‘at one time threatening, and at another coaxing them’. ‘To tell the truth, however’, wrote Alexander, ‘we could not have walked much faster ourselves.’ Finally, ‘the man who carried the bundle of sticks sat down and said he must die, as he could not proceed a step farther.’ He was ‘like the man in the fable’, wrote James, ‘who called on death to relieve him of his load’.

   The Gerards took stock. There above them was a pinnacle of rock, overlooking the place they had turned back. Sensing the record within their grasp, they left the stricken man to rest. This would be their peak within a peak, their summit beneath the summit, at what they hoped would be a record-breaking height.

   The wind had been ‘irresistibly violent’ all day, but finally, mercifully, it died down. Then, before they knew it, they were there. Thousands of feet of mountain towered above, but this was the apex of their ambition. High enough, they believed, to earn them a new world altitude record.

   The wind had calmed, but their hands were numb with cold and the ink in their pot had frozen solid. Turning again to their homemade barometers, they made hurried notes in pencil.

   They watched each instrument settle in turn at the same mark.

   They were 19,411 feet above sea level.

   The record was theirs.

   Below lay Chinese Tartary, stretching away to the east. But the Gerards recorded no further observations. They wrote nothing of what they saw. They had what they came for.

   So, under the failing light, they started back down the mountain. Night was falling, a vale of shadow pulled down over this jagged frontier, a range of mountains like no other. A range ‘so elevated’, wrote James, ‘that Chimborazo would look like a mole-hill’.

   Diego de Ordaz. Baron Alexander von Humboldt. James and Alexander Gerard. Theirs are the names associated with the earliest ascents of what were then believed to be some of the world’s highest mountains.

   The story of mountaineering’s world altitude record is, in that respect, a history told by the victors: men – predominantly men – who climbed, they thought, beyond the reach of contradiction.

   Whether for the advancement of science or the prosecution of empire, each of these first ‘mountaineers’ had his own reasons to climb.

   And, whatever their motives, however imprecise their measurements, Ordaz, Humboldt and the Gerards had one thing in common – all believed they had gone higher than any man, woman or child before them.

   All were wrong.

   What none of them could know was that evidence existed of an ascent to eclipse all their best efforts. Unearthed by Johan Reinhard and his archaeological team in 1999, it is a reminder that initiative and ambition did not begin with European colonial endeavour. That men and women have forever looked to the heavens and tried to draw them closer.

   Everything we know about their ‘expedition’ has been pieced together from Reinhard’s discovery. It speaks to a journey that began in the twilight of the fifteenth century, as a party of Incas started south from their capital of Cusco, high in the Andes Mountains of South America. Skirting the crystal waters of Lake Titicaca, crossing the sprawling salt flats of the Salar de Uyuni, then braving the shifting sands of the Atacama Desert, they travelled over a thousand miles through some of the most beautiful and forbidding terrain on earth, until they arrived at the foot of the 22,110-foot stratovolcano Lluillaillaco.

   These were not the first Incas to climb Lluillaillaco. Others had gone before, following a trail all the way to the summit. Nor were there any great obstacles to overcome; the volcano’s slopes were formed of layer upon layer of lava and ash, the legacy of countless eruptions. But it was bitterly cold even at the height of summer and, as the day wore on, with more of their path lying within the shade, it would have grown colder still.

   At around 17,000 feet, with darkness almost upon them, they prepared to spend the night on the mountain. They left the main trail to reach a tambo, an Incan waystation, a dozen buildings with walls of stone and roofs of matted straw. The Inca priests could now check on the condition of the three children they had with them. The oldest was a thirteen-year-old girl, who had lived for six months as one of the aclla, or chosen women, under the guidance of high priestesses. With her was a boy and another girl, each barely five years old. All had been given coca leaves to chew and chicha, a fermented alcoholic drink, enough that they were barely conscious. They, at least, would have no difficulty sleeping that night.

   The next day they started out again. Many of the Incas lived at altitudes of 10,000 feet or more, but even they would have felt the leaden weight on their feet, the clouds gathering in their minds, at 20,000 feet and climbing. Finally, with the wind howling around them, they saw the summit above.

   There, a short distance beneath it, was another building. The priests laid the still-unconscious children on the matted floor. They dressed them in elaborate headdresses made of white feathers, wrapped them in richly coloured tunics and adorned their bodies with intricate silver jewellery. Then, once all the preparations were complete, they carried their little bodies to a place just beneath the summit, where three chambers awaited. Placing them inside, they arranged precious artefacts around them, intricate figurines made of spondylus shells, ceramic vessels, wooden cups, spoons and combs. Gifts for the gods from across the Inca empire, the children would take them to the afterlife.

   There is no way of knowing exactly how the children died. Hypothermia might have taken them long before they reached the summit; the boy’s legs were bound, perhaps to make his lifeless body easier to carry. There is other evidence to suggest they were suffocated, that the priests forced handfuls of coca leaves into their mouths, then kept their hands clasped over the children’s faces until the light died in their eyes. More chilling is the possibility they were still breathing as the priests prepared to leave them, drugged and slowly dying, buried alive beneath a thin layer of gravel.

   What is certain is that the ‘Children of Lluillaillaco’ knew nothing of scientists or surveyors, of alpinists or altitude records. Nor could they know that their bodies would be discovered by a team of archaeologists five hundred years after their deaths and that they would one day be commemorated in the same breath as pioneering adventurers from Spain, Prussia and Scotland. All they knew, in the final reckoning, was an end to the cold, the confusion, the suffering. Alone together, just shy of the 22,110-foot summit of a volcano, that much closer to the gods they were being sent to join.
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      …the Schlagintweits began conducting experiments of their own, styling themselves a new generation of Humboldtian adventurer.

       German naturalist and explorer Adolph Schlagintweit. Portrait by A. Graefle.

     



   

  

 
  
   Adolph Schlagintweit had seen better days.

   Three years on the road would do that to a man, especially the kind of ‘roads’ he had been taking. Since making port at Bombay in 1854, Adolph and his two brothers had travelled all over India, covering more than 16,000 miles. Now, three years later, their expedition was almost at an end. Hermann and Robert had already sailed for Europe, where they would start work sorting through the many journals they had kept, the hundreds of sketches they had produced. They had left Adolph to find his way back over land, braving a journey through Chinese Turkestan.

   A column of smoke rose over the pinch of higher ground where Adolph and a handful of men were camped. They were all that remained of an expedition once numbering in the hundreds. Kneeling over the pot was Abdullah, a Kashmiri Muslim who had been with the Schlagintweits since they first arrived in India. He was an accomplished draughtsman with a talent for reading the landscape and filling in the blanks; nobody had contributed more to the maps and charts they produced. Often Abdullah was forced to work with more blank than landscape, so it helped that he was expert at teasing out local knowledge. A flash of those kind eyes quickly gained him the confidence of a total stranger.

   Muraj the merchant sat cross-legged; hands clasped. All the men were masquerading as caravan traders, but Muraj was the real deal. With his stock of furs and silks he added a note of authenticity to proceedings and was always ready to do a little business on the side. He knew the roads they travelled on, and the roads knew him.

   Mohammed Amin was a less wholesome character, ‘a person of questionable antecedents’ said to have once worked as a gang-robber. That should not have come as a complete surprise, given the task for which he had been recruited – guiding Europeans through Chinese-controlled territory – was itself a criminal one. He lay in the warmth of the fire, puffing clouds of thick smoke from his water pipe.

   Adolph would be relying on these men, now more than ever. They had made it over the mountains to find that war had broken out in Kashgar. Kokandi Turks had invaded, driving out the ruling Chinese and laying claim to the region. Their leader, a warlord named Wali Khan, had a reputation as an impetuously violent man; he was rumoured to have killed so many Muslims that six minarets had been erected from the skulls. Legend had it that, on the occasion of receiving a newly forged sabre, he put it to the test by decapitating the son of the man who had just presented it to him.

   Adolph’s path back to Europe took him through the heart of the conflict. His one alternative was retreat, but that carried risks of its own. The crossing of the Khunjerab pass had pushed them to their limits, their bodies wracked by cold and driven to exhaustion. Some of the porters had lain down in the snow, asking to be left to die. Retreading those frozen heights, Adolph might simply lie down and join them.

   The last light of a long day caught the snow-capped peaks to the south. The wisest course was to recross the mountains. They would find fresh porters, would find their way back to India. There, boats would be waiting, steamers bound for Europe.

   And yet. The spirit of adventure drew Adolph forward. Into the heart of Kashgar. Into the arms of Wali Khan.

   In August 1818, almost forty years before Adolph Schlagintweit arrived in the borderlands of Chinese Turkestan, the carriage of Baron Alexander von Humboldt pulled up outside East India House in London’s Leadenhall Street.

   Humboldt had returned from South America believing he had climbed to within a thousand feet of the highest point on earth. Now he understood that there were mountains in Asia to dwarf Chimborazo. Seeing the British sending soldiers rather than scientists to investigate, Humboldt hoped to mount an expedition of his own. He would discover all that connected the two greatest mountain ranges on earth – the Andes and the Himalaya – and learn everything he could about the planet in between.

   Humboldt enjoyed considerable influence in London. The Prince Regent and the foreign secretary both knew him as a trusted advisor of King Friedrich of Prussia and looked approvingly on his plans. All that remained was to secure permission to pass through British-administered territory. For that, Humboldt needed the blessing of the East India Company.

   Humboldt left London a few days later believing his meeting with the Company’s Court of Directors had gone well. But, as the months went by, he came to understand that they opposed his plans. Humboldt had returned from Latin America railing against the excesses of Spanish colonialism in the ‘New World’, giving inspiration to a revolution led by his young friend, Simón Bolívar. Worse still, he had been openly critical of the ‘civil and military despotism’ of the British in India, drawing parallels with the violence and brutality he had witnessed on his travels. For all his courtly influence, Humboldt’s reputation preceded him – the Court of Directors saw him stirring up precisely the kind of trouble they didn’t need.

   Months turned to years, years to decades. Humboldt became an old man, for whom the only journeys that remained were great flights of the imagination. He poured himself into literary projects, each more ambitious than the last, culminating with Cosmos, an opus promising to encompass the entire universe and all of existence. By now Humboldt had accepted that he would never see ‘High Asia’; it was his most intense regret. Then, in 1849, he met the Schlagintweits.

   The sons of a distinguished Bavarian eye surgeon, Hermann, Adolph and Robert Schlagintweit had received a prestigious education, proving themselves exceptional students in the field of geographical science. In 1845, when the first volume of Cosmos was published, they were among the crowds jostling for copies. Inspired by what the tome contained, the Schlagintweits began conducting experiments of their own, styling themselves a new generation of Humboldtian adventurer.

   In May 1849 Hermann and Adolph left Munich and moved to Berlin. There they secured an audience with Humboldt, who saw that they were just what he needed – able-bodied young acolytes, ready to undertake a pilgrimage on his behalf. He was already planning future volumes of Cosmos, expanding its celestial scope to include ‘both heaven and earth’. There could be no getting closer to the heavens, reasoned Humboldt, than to stand on the shoulders of the world’s highest peaks.

   Then, in 1852, he saw his chance. For thirteen years the Company had been conducting its Magnetic Crusade, an investigation into the forces of geomagnetism in the ‘Eastern Archipelago’. When its leader, Captain Charles M. Elliot, suddenly succumbed to fever and died, Humboldt put the Schlagintweits forward as candidates to complete the work. Some in Britain questioned the need to recruit fresh-faced foreigners ‘to a duty which some of our Indian officers were both anxious and competent to perform’, but the Court of Directors was not listening; they were more interested in the generous sums offered by the kings of Prussia and Bavaria, who had agreed to part-fund a Schlagintweit-led expedition. The Company promptly agreed terms with the brothers, and preparations for their Scientific Mission to India and High Asia began.

   The steamer Indus made port at Alexandria in September 1854 and the Schlagintweits came ashore. With all their equipment packed onto camels, Hermann, Adolph and Robert raced through the desert to the port of Suez, where they traded the stifling heat of covered wagons for the top deck of a paddle steamer, sipping champagne as they chuntered along the length of the Red Sea. Tragically, with no ice available, they drank it warm.

   The brothers boarded a steamship at Aden and, one week later, disembarked at Bombay. From there they travelled cross-country to Madras, then north by boat to Calcutta, where their first engagement was a meeting with George Everest. Everest was credited with masterminding the Great Trigonometrical Survey, a project to measure the length and breadth of India. It was ‘one of the most stupendous works in the whole history of science’, gushed one of his contemporaries. ‘Everest’s was a creative genius. The whole conception of the survey, as it now exists, was the creation of his brain.’

   Not everybody was quite so enthusiastic. ‘We believe’, reported the Calcutta Review in 1851, ‘that there are very few persons, even in India, who have any notion whatever of what the Trigonometrical Survey really is, or what it does for geography or science: or who can comprehend what has been already done, and why it has not long since been brought to a conclusion.’ Established in 1802, the work had been expected to take five years. Five decades later it was still far from complete, testament to the hallowed British tradition of underestimating the task at hand.

   The Schlagintweits did not have the luxury of half a century at their disposal – they had funding for three years. Three years to complete a wildly ambitious programme of scientific enquiry, encompassing geography, geology, zoology, botany, palaeontology, mineralogy and meteorology. It is easy to see the hand of Humboldt in this. His holistic view of nature demanded that, to investigate any one of the natural sciences, you had to investigate them all.

   At Calcutta the brothers divided into two separate expeditions. Hermann travelled north to Darjeeling, and Adolph and Robert boarded a train northeast to Patna. There they transferred to palkis, a type of sedan chair carried by bearers, and joined the course of the Ganges. They followed the river upstream towards its source; heaven itself, if Hindu fables were to be believed. Summer was coming, bringing a heat to the plains most Europeans would find unbearable. The Schlagintweits let it chase them up into the coolness of the mountains.

   Arriving at the British hill station of Nainital in May 1855, Adolph and Robert got their first good look at a true Himalayan giant. To the north was Nanda Devi, the highest mountain in the Kumaon region of the Himalaya, towering above the band of cloud masking its hazy lower reaches. Within weeks they crossed a high pass to the east of the mountain, coming to the village of Milam by the start of June.

   Out of Milam they led a series of expeditions into the surrounding mountains, going to heights of 17,000 feet and more. On the Milam glacier they forced their way up a broken icefall to around 19,000 feet, four hundred feet short of the mark reached by the Gerards on Reo Purgyil. The Schlagintweits had arrived in High Asia intent on emulating the greatest accomplishments of Baron von Humboldt – including a world altitude record of their own.

   Their chance came late in the summer as they approached a 25,446-foot peak named Kamet. Attended by three smaller peaks, Kamet is a pyramidal mass of red granite schist, burnished gold at dawn and dusk by the sun’s slanting rays, setting its hanging glaciers aglow. Deep into the summer it is caught between the worst excesses of the Himalayan monsoon coming up from the south and the attenuating influence of dry westerly winds swooping in from Tibet. Amid the cut and thrust of this elemental struggle, peace occasionally breaks out, producing favourable conditions for climbing.

   On the evening of 18 August, the two brothers arrived high on the slopes of Ibi Gamin, a 24,131-foot peak a mile northeast of Kamet. With them were eight other men: ‘Bhútias from Mílum,’ wrote Robert, ‘and Tibetans’. Together they had been exploring the surrounding glaciers for five days already, ‘encamped… at very unusual heights’. Consulting their barometers, Adolph and Robert saw that this was ‘the greatest height at which we ever passed the night’. They were 19,326 feet above sea level – less than one hundred feet shy of the Gerards.

   It was a stormy night, but the next day dawned clear. The ten men started out early, determined to see how high they could go, but as they climbed the snow-covered slopes of Kamet’s eastern peak, they found their path blocked by crevasses and were forced to take lengthy detours in search of ‘snow-bridges’ to see them safely over. Adolph and Robert had taken their experiments high on the slopes of the European Alps, but here they were contending with obstacles of a whole new order of magnitude. ‘Apart from the extreme elevation and consequent cold,’ wrote Robert, ‘the bodily exertions… proved a great tax on our powers.’

   The men kept climbing, through the morning and into the afternoon. Then, cresting the mountain’s east ridge, they were brought to a halt by a vicious north wind. One of their party suffered a haemorrhage of some kind – he began ‘to bleed uncontrollably’ and ‘lost all his strength’. For all the brothers knew, this was what happened at such heights. They might be moments away from suffering the same fate themselves.

   Exhausted, they stopped to rest. Adolph and Robert already knew they had surpassed the height reached by the Gerards – the question was by how much. They checked their barometers, noting down the readings then, with one of their party seriously unwell, started down.

   It was only later, when they completed their computations, that the brothers saw how high they had gone. ‘We had ascended the flanks of Íbi Gámin,’ wrote Robert, ‘to a height of 22,259 feet. This, as far as we know, is the greatest height yet reached on any mountain.’

   The Schlagintweits had not just broken the Gerards’ record – they had left it in smithereens three thousand feet below. ‘Theirs was an amazing performance,’ wrote the English mountaineer Frank Smythe, who would climb Kamet for himself in 1931, ‘especially if it be remembered that at that date many of the great Alpine peaks had not yet been climbed.’ Years later, Smythe would sense their hands on his shoulder, approaching the summit of his own desires. ‘In the shadow of Kamet’, he wrote, ‘in the silence and the loneliness about us, we felt that the pioneers who had crossed their “last pass” were watching our progress, even perhaps instilling into us their own determination, and passing on to us the bright torch of their own pioneering. If success was to be ours, we should be completing work well begun, and in realising our own ambitions realise theirs.’

   Over the next two years the Schlagintweits conducted a sprawling survey of the Indian subcontinent. They went as far east as Assam, as far west as Karachi, all the way south to Ceylon and always north in the summer, into the mountains, to the northernmost extremities of British-administered territory. The resulting map is a cat’s cradle of red lines, dotted and dashed to signify each brother’s progress, draped between major cities and along the sprawling coastlines of the south, and looped in bunches around the great regional centres of the north.

   Each brother travelled with as many as fifty indigenous intermediaries, from watchmen to watercarriers, taxidermists to torch-bearers, woodcutters to bone-boilers. Together they amassed a huge collection of scientific and cultural objects, including a macabre inventory of anthropological artefacts. They collected human remains from colonial hospitals, the bodies of convicts plundered from Indian prisons, skeletons robbed from graveyards; in all, more than forty thousand items. Their hope was to establish an ‘India Museum’ in Berlin, adorning its walls with the pick of 750 sketches and watercolours produced along the way.

   Meanwhile, the cost of the enterprise ballooned. There were wages to be paid, collectables to be transported and the Schlagintweits themselves, making use of every available mode of conveyance. They travelled by steamer and railway, by elephant and palanquin – a covered litter carried on poles on the shoulders of four to six men – and made use of the Nepalese dari, ‘a type of portable hammock, which allows all kinds of observations of the traversed region’. They only pitched their tents where no alternative presented itself, preferring to stay in bungalows and hotels, or at British hill stations. At times they behaved more like tourists than scientific travellers, spending their money accordingly.

   Except it wasn’t their money. The Company had given them a budget, but when that ran out the brothers continued to draw on a line of credit they had negotiated with the Indian government. There were rumours they had run up debts of £18,000 – approximately £1.5 million in today’s money – prompting some to ponder what returns could be expected on such a sizeable investment. For all the ground they had covered, all the measurements they had taken, all the specimens they had collected, the brothers seemed to have ‘discovered’ nothing not already perfectly well-known to the British.

   Intent on silencing their critics, Hermann and Robert left Adolph and made their way back to Europe, where they started work on Results Of A Scientific Mission To India And High Asia. The brothers hoped this exhaustive compendium of facts and figures would more than offset the expense of the enterprise, planning to produce a work of nine volumes. Only four were ever completed and they were not well-received. The Athenaeum, the pre-eminent British literary periodical of its day, pronounced the published volumes ‘unreadable’ and the Schlagintweits themselves ‘remarkably ill-chosen for undertaking the lead of a great scientific mission’.

   Robert Schlagintweit did eventually find an audience for their work. Taking a leaf out of Humboldt’s book, he embarked on a lecture tour. Robert travelled the world with his presentation of paintings, letters and postcards, conjuring an image of himself exploring India in the manner of ‘a thoroughly independent sovereign, who governs absolutely over an immense kingdom adorned with the rarest charms of nature… Every European, whom he may meet is a friend, every other person an obedient subject.’ It was a fanciful depiction, and, well, where ‘obedient servants’ were concerned, Robert – unlike his brother Adolph – had never met Wali Khan.

   As he prepared to continue north towards the city of Yarkand, Adolph instructed two men to recross the mountains to the south, taking many of his journals and papers with them. He was anxious to preserve his legacy, knowing danger lay ahead.

   Danger yes, but also opportunity. Chinese Turkestan was more fertile than India, its weather more temperate, where fine dust blowing in from the Gobi Desert breathed new life into the soil. Crops grew prodigiously, the grain was superior, the fruit more flavoursome and abundant. There was gold, washing down from the mountains, so plentiful it changed hands for half its value in the markets to the south. There were precious stones, and metals and minerals – iron, lead, copper, antimony, salt, saltpetre, sulphur, soda and coal – and there was talk of other treasures lying hidden beneath the ground. Whole cities were said to have been swallowed up by the shifting sands, in the ruins of which lay great hoards of gold coins.

   Adolph was well aware of the Schlagintweits’ spiralling debts – it was one of the main reasons he had decided to return to Europe overland. The journey should enable him to open up new trade routes, not to mention the regional intelligence he could gather and the soft power he could wield from socialising with potential allies and trading partners. Hermann and Robert were already back in Berlin trying to assuage the Company’s concerns; here was Adolph’s shot at finding a solution of his own.

   Things went well at first. Masquerading as a caravan of merchants, they passed undetected through the city of Ilchi and carried on towards Yarkand, relying on Muraj to scout ahead. Then, three weeks into their journey, he returned with news of a dramatic development. Wali Khan had sent his armies east with orders to seize Yarkand, long held by the Chinese. The Turks had laid siege to the city, pinning their beleaguered enemy inside their fort.

   Adolph and his companions reached Yarkand to witness a spectacular counterattack. With the Turks camped outside the city, the Chinese poured out of their garrison and caught their besiegers off-guard, routing them in the open field. In the chaos that ensued, Adolph and his men found themselves caught up in Wali Khan’s retreating army.

   Things were amicable at first, but the Turks grew suspicious of this fair-skinned ‘feringhi’ with detailed drawings of rivers, mountains and settlements about his person. Adolph and his companions had their arms taken; they were going to Kashgar, whether they cared to or not.

   When they reached the city Adolph was taken directly before Wali Khan. Putting his faith in the maxim that fortune favours the bold, he introduced himself as an envoy of the Honourable East India Company, a man of great importance to the British. He intimated that, should any harm come to him or his men, no stone would be left unturned in the quest for justice and retribution. As he spoke, Adolph described the man he had always hoped to become – a great Humboldtian adventurer, an emissary of enterprise and enlightenment, shining the lamp of science into the darkest corners of the world.

   Wali Khan said nothing. His siege on Yarkand had failed and now the armies of the Khatais were coming. Strength rather than diplomacy would dictate the fate of Kashgar, and of Wali Khan. What better time to remind his followers that he answered to nobody, least of all an agent of the British, sent deep, too deep, into territory he and his followers called home?

   Turning to his men, Khan spoke. His instructions were simple and clear. The other members of the party were to be taken to his prisons, where they could hope to die or, worse, be sold into slavery. Meanwhile, Adolph was to be taken to the gates of the city.

   There, at four in the afternoon, he had his head chopped off.
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      Gone was the accident-prone ensign of the past, replaced by a determined young officer.

      English naturalist, soldier and surveyor Henry ‘Haversham’ Godwin-Austen at Cherraponjee, India. Photographer unknown (1869).

     



   

  

 
  
   In January 1848 Henry ‘Haversham’ Godwin-Austen arrived at Sandhurst, England’s leading military academy, as green as its playing fields. Thirteen years old, he showed promise as an artist, but lapsed into complacency, becoming so idle it earned him a night in the cells.

   Word of his behaviour reached his grandfather, General Godwin. The general had pulled strings to ensure Haversham a place at Sandhurst and was dismayed to learn that the young cadet was squandering the opportunity. General Godwin was promptly aboard a train out of London, intent on taking the matter up with his grandson in person.

   The first Haversham knew of the general’s visit was the appearance of one of the sergeants in his Hall of Study, bearing a summons to the lieutenant governor’s office. Ordinarily this meant one of two things: a hamper from home ready for collection, or a disciplinary matter, with whatever punishment that might bring. It was with ‘mixed feelings’ then that Haversham passed through the green baize door of the office in question. The last thing he expected to see was the stern face of his grandfather awaiting him on the other side.

   General Godwin marched Haversham out onto the parade ground. There he disabused his grandson of the notion that his family would buy him a military commission if he did not earn one on merit. By the time the general had finished, Haversham understood that, if he did not pull his socks up, he would be entering the army at the rank of private.

   ‘That was the best and kindest thing he ever did for me,’ wrote Haversham, who went on to graduate with distinction. Now a young ensign, his reward was to be posted to Burma, where he would serve as the aide-de-camp to a distinguished British general – his grandfather, General Godwin.

   Godwin-Austen had barely made port in Calcutta when he was thrown from a horse and hospitalised with a broken thighbone; his biographer Catherine Moorehead compared the accident with ‘the modern phenomenon of an over-enthusiastic young driver trashing his car not long after passing his driving test’.

   The Indian subcontinent was just getting started with him. On the boat from Calcutta to Rangoon he contracted smallpox, at a time when it was widespread and commonly fatal. He would eventually recover, but over the next eighteen months he experienced prolonged bouts of illness, including serious eye and ear infections, treated by the generous application of leeches: thirty on his side for a suspected liver infection; six around each eye; twenty on the ear – a triumph of logistics, regardless of its medical efficacy.

   Though Godwin-Austen himself was in the wars, he arrived in Rangoon to find peace had broken out. The Second Anglo-Burmese War was at an end, leaving him with few military duties and time to spare. Seeing an opportunity to hone his skills as a surveyor, he started work on a map of the Irrawaddy Delta, a maze of river channels covering an area of eight thousand square miles. The work was an ideal distraction, bringing together his artistic talents, his fascination with natural history and all the knowledge he had picked up from his father, Robert Godwin-Austen, a distinguished geologist, and a member of the Royal Geographical Society.

   The resulting map was so impressive – so the story went – it caught the eye of Sir Andrew Waugh, the surveyor-general of India. Without further ado, Godwin-Austen was on his way back to Calcutta, recruited to the ranks of the Survey of India. He did not know it yet, but his appointment owed much to the influence of his father, who had, in his own words, ‘set the machinery to work’. For Haversham, the explanation was much simpler: the Survey needed fresh blood, and he was just the man to spill some.

   Founded in 1767 to help consolidate territory under the control of the East India Company, the Survey of India had a long tradition of putting men in harm’s way. Under the leadership of a young officer named Captain James Rennell – the first surveyor-general of India – its surveyors were charged with exploring the extent of British-administered India. The work took them into a wilderness of the unfamiliar, home to animals they had never encountered and deadly diseases new to their freshly imported immune systems. In those early years an assignment to the Survey was, according to John Wilford in The Mapmakers, ‘tantamount to a death sentence’.

   Rennell led from the front. On one occasion he could only watch as a tiger carried off one of his men, but on another, when a leopard attacked a group of sepoys – professional Indian soldiers – Rennell seized a bayonet and thrust it into the creature’s mouth. He was ready, too, to draw arms against human attackers – and did not always come off best. During one ambush Rennell received a series of savage blows from a sword, sustaining injuries from which he never fully recovered. He retired from active service in 1777, returning to England with ‘a shattered constitution’. He was thirty-five years old.

   Rennell had given his all for the Survey, but for some he had not gone far enough. William Lambton, a young British officer bursting with ambition, believed the mapping of India demanded a rigour and exactness beyond even Rennell’s best efforts. Rennell and his men had relied on ‘route surveys’, following roads or rivers and noting down local geography. Lambton argued for a more scientific approach, ascertaining ‘the correct positions of the principal geographical points upon correct mathematical principles’. Using a system of triangulation and trigonometry to calculate exact heights and distances, Lambton hoped to create a vast mesh of triangulated positions extending the length and breadth of subcontinental India. His project became known as the Great Trigonometrical Survey.

   Work began in 1802 and, from the outset, it was an uphill struggle. Lambton required a theodolite, a telescope that reports the angle of an object from the horizontal; there were only three in the world powerful enough to measure such large distances. When he succeeded in obtaining one, he found it weighed half a tonne. Moreover, to be of any use, the instrument – which needed twelve men just to lift it – had to be raised to a position of significant elevation. With few natural vantage points on the vast southern plains of India, Lambton and his men commandeered temples or conscripted locals to build towers of their own. Forcing men to work long days in suffocating heat, doing damage to hallowed religious buildings in the process, they made enemies everywhere they went.

   For Lambton and his surveyors, all nature seemed to be against them: they were plagued by illness, tormented by insects, and attacked by everything from king cobras to rogue elephants. It got worse as they moved north, taking their work into a lowland belt of marshy grassland known as the Terai, where clay-rich swamps teemed with parasites and water-borne disease. Further north still, they entered the jungle, where the atmosphere was so oppressive it was deserted, for the worst heat of the year, by even the birds. Then, moving up into the mountains of the Himalaya, they made enemies of ice and stone.

   Decades passed. The Great Trigonometrical Survey swallowed up whole lives and careers. Lambton was succeeded as surveyor-general by George Everest, then Everest by Andrew Waugh, who oversaw the ‘discovery’ of what he and his fellow Survey men knew as Peak XV. Waugh wrote to his deputy in Calcutta in 1856 confirming it was the highest mountain yet discovered; he suggested naming it after his predecessor, a name that came into common parlance almost a decade before it was officially adopted. But Mount Everest, as far as the British were concerned, could be admired only from afar. It lay fifty miles beyond India’s border with Nepal, and the Nepalese steadfastly refused British applications to inspect it more closely.

   Instead, in 1856, the Survey’s most experienced men were focusing their attention elsewhere, on a region that had come under British rule following the First Anglo-Sikh War – Kashmir. The British had ceded control to a territorial ally but retained suzerainty over the region, meaning they would help defend its borders. Of course, to do that, they first needed to ascertain where its borders lay.

   With Tibet to the east and Chinese Turkestan to the north, Kashmir encompassed a large tract of the Western Himalaya. Much of what the British knew about the region owed itself to the exploits of Godfrey Vigne, a private traveller who, in the 1830s, returned to England describing mountains ‘such as would make Mont Blanc look small beside them’. Vigne was not exaggerating – he had passed through the shadow of some of the highest peaks on earth, in a range known as the Karakoram.

   Twenty years later, in 1855, these same mountains caught the attention of the British surveyor Colonel Thomas G. Montgomerie. Montgomerie was taking observations from the summit of Mount Harmukh, a minor peak in the lower-lying mountains of the Lesser Himalaya, when he noted in particular ‘two fine peaks standing very high above the general range’. Montgomerie recorded them as ‘Peak K1’ and ‘Peak K2’, the K standing for Karakoram.

   Montgomerie knew he was looking at mountains that formed part of a great natural frontier between Kashmir and Chinese Turkestan, a notional border the British had yet to define. But where – exactly – were they? And to whom did they belong? One thing was certain: he would not get answers to his questions from 137 miles away. Sooner or later, somebody would need to take a closer look. That somebody, as it turned out, was Henry Haversham Godwin-Austen.

   Appointed to the Survey in 1857, Godwin-Austen joined a subdivision of the Great Trigonometrical Survey known as the Kashmir Series. He was put to work in the Pir Panjal, the largest range of the Lesser Himalaya, where he received a sobering taste of what awaited in the greater ranges to the north. It wasn’t enough simply to climb mountains. He and his party would remain at the summits for hours, sometimes days, as they completed observations. Hunkered down at high altitude in sub-zero temperatures, they were freezing cold, brutally exposed and often dangerously short on supplies. ‘Minor inconveniences’, wrote the surveyor, that ‘may serve to give some idea of the amount of labour entailed in the survey of a country such as this’.

   For all the difficulties he faced, Godwin-Austen thrived in the mountains. Gone was the accident-prone ensign of the past, replaced by a determined young officer. He carried a length of rope to see him safely over crevasses and a hatchet for cutting steps in the ice; the more precarious his situation, the more sure-footed he became. ‘His strength and stamina were amazing,’ wrote Moorehead, who considers it ‘testimony to his exceptional mental toughness’ that he was the often ‘the sole Westerner in the party’. For Godwin-Austen, unable to ‘discuss the nature of the country and admire its magnificent scenery’ with fellow Europeans, his was a particular kind of isolation, a loneliness all of its own.

   Most of the men with Godwin-Austen were Balti porters, native to Kashmir and recruited under a system of forced labour known as begar. This entitled state and government officials to commandeer porters and provisions at the towns and villages they came to, whether to carry supplies and munitions to outposts along the frontier, as a transport corps for representatives of the Indian government, or to further the objectives of imperial institutions such as the Survey of India. The great virtue of this arrangement, from Godwin-Austen’s perspective, was that he could alter the size of his party according to his needs, taking on fresh men in more remote areas where it was necessary to carry more food and fuel. For the villagers themselves, wrested from their families and crops, and forced to carry heavy loads deep into icebound mountains, the system had less to commend it.

   Begar was not an invention of the British. The word was Persian in origin; begar had been practised in India since the start of the eighteenth century. In the case of Kashmir, begar had been introduced by the Dogras, a Sikh dynasty that had annexed the region in 1841. Twenty years on, the Dogras still governed Kashmir under the supervision of the British, themselves no strangers to forced labour. In 1861, as Godwin-Austen prepared to lead the expedition that would make him famous, he counted two Dogra Sepoys – Sikh infantrymen – among the ranks. ‘In this way,’ notes the geographer Kenneth Iain MacDonald, ‘the colonialist discourse in India was produced in collusion with the Indian bourgeoisie.’

   Godwin-Austen knew better than to rely solely on his Dogra enforcers to keep order. British travellers tended to characterise their Balti porters as lazy, cowardly and dishonest, citing cases of sabotage, theft, deception, feigned illness and desertion. Today these alleged behaviours are better understood as ‘acts of resistance’, notes MacDonald, ‘played out in an effort to exercise a degree of self-determination and retain an element of dignity’. Understanding this, Godwin-Austen had selected a Balti named Mahomed, drawn from among the porters, to be his sirdar, or ‘man of influence’. The coming expedition would be a constant negotiation, not just of the landscape, but with those who called it home.

   On 8 July 1861, Godwin-Austen arrived at the summit of Thyarlung, a 16,844-foot peak at the gateway to the Karakoram mountains – the region he had been sent to explore. ‘The view, as usual from these altitudes, was grand and magnificent,’ he wrote. ‘Peak K2, the highest on this side (overtopped only by Mount Everest in the far eastern Himalayas of Nepal), appeared an airy-blue tint, surrounded by the yellower peak K1 (Masherbrum), K3, and others, all over 24,000 ft in height. Other minor peaks, by hundreds, thrust up their heads – some snow-capped, some rounded, some bare and angular, running up as sharp as needles.’

   Colonel Montgomerie had first sighted K2 from 137 miles away. Now, at the summit of Thyarlung, Godwin-Austen had halved that distance. That, though, was as the eagle flies; the path of the expedition snaked up the Shigar and Braldu valleys, into the rugged heart of the Karakoram. He and his party would be three weeks reaching Askole, the last village they would come to. Arriving there on 30 July, Godwin-Austen became only the second European ever to pass through; the first, five years earlier, had been Adolph Schlagintweit.

   No visit to Askole was complete without a jhula crossing. A jhula was a type of bridge made of three strands of rope held apart by forked branches. Jhulas would only be replaced once they had failed – typically at the cost of at least one life – so were often found in states of alarming disrepair. This was certainly true of the jhula spanning the vertiginous gorge of the Braldoh river. ‘The passage across’, wrote Godwin-Austen, with a tang of Victorian understatement, ‘was by no means pleasant’.

   This was a taste of what awaited Godwin-Austen and the sixty-six men with him as they marched out of Askole into the Karakoram’s deeper interior. Danger was everywhere. It might be darkly beautiful, like the river of stone that rushed past one of their campsites, ‘a black mass… of stones and rock, some of great size, all travelling along together like peas shot out of a bag, rumbling and tumbling one over the other, and causing the ground to shake’. Then there were the crevasses, stretched like crooked mouths across the glaciers, ‘ugly things to look into, much more so to cross, between walls garnished with magnificent green icicles… looking like rows of great teeth ready to devour one’.

   There was no way to explore the Karakoram but by its glaciers, which flowed through the valleys with a directness of their own. Seen from afar they might have appeared sleek and sweeping, but move up close and find a skirmish of the elements, a timeless struggle between ice and stone. ‘The devastation and mess created by a glacier surpass the wildest dreams of a construction engineer,’ wrote John Keay of the Karakoram. ‘Try to ascend them and you find them surrounded by an oozing morass of mud and stone, blocks of ice and shattered rock, as insecure and unpleasant to cross as the worst icefield. This is the world as it must have been at the dawn of creation, cracking and crumbling, oozing and flowing with irresistible elemental forces. No place at all for human beings.’

   Nor did the nights bring respite. Camping on the glacier, the men used rocks and stones for a mattress, protection against the cold ghosting up from below. Retreat to the glacier’s edge and there was solid rock to sleep on, but within range of blocks of stone falling from the cliffs above. The sound of these thudding down was enough to cheat the tiredest soul of a good night’s sleep, so instead they lay awake in the darkness, waiting for the light to break, when dawn summoned them back out onto the remorseless ice.

   By the night of 11 August, the expedition was camped midway up the Chiring glacier, a day’s march from the top of the Mustagh pass. For centuries, migrants and merchants had used the pass to move between Kashmir and Chinese Turkestan. Godwin-Austen was aware that many local travellers had crossed before him, including some of his own Balti guides, so he might have considered it a formality. What he didn’t know was that for the last five years the Chiring glacier had been undergoing a ‘surge’, moving ten times faster than usual. He found it severely crevassed, with huge blocks of ice obstructing their path.

   That evening, his tent pitched in the lee of steep cliffs where the valley narrowed, the surveyor heard ‘most disagreeable noises’ beneath him. The glacier was making its feelings known, ‘crunching, splitting and groaning to an awful extent’. For the Baltis, with only blankets to protect them, ‘the cold was very severe… for as our fuel had to be carried with us, no fires could be afforded except for cooking. We all went to rest early,’ wrote Godwin-Austen, ‘and did not turn out till the sun showed over the immense cliffs above us.’
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